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Plaintiff Matthew Yaniv (“plaintiff”) alleges the following based upon the investigation of 

plaintiff’s counsel, which included a review of United States Securities and Exchange Commission 

(“SEC”) filings by Clover Health Investments, Corp. (“Clover” or the “Company”), as well as 

regulatory filings and reports, securities analysts’ reports and advisories about the Company, press 

releases, conference call transcripts and other public statements issued by the Company, and media 

reports about the Company.  Plaintiff believes that substantial additional evidentiary support will 

exist for the allegations set forth herein after a reasonable opportunity for discovery. 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is a securities class action on behalf of all purchasers of Clover (formerly known 

as Social Capital Hedosophia Holdings Corp. III) Class A common stock and warrants to purchase 

Class A common stock (collectively, the “Securities”) between October 6, 2020 and February 3, 

2021, inclusive (the “Class Period”) seeking to pursue remedies under the Securities Exchange Act 

of 1934 (“1934 Act”).  Defendants include Clover and certain of its top officers and directors. 

2. Defendant Clover is a Franklin, Tennessee based health insurance service company 

that provides Medicare Advantage health plans to 57,000 members through a tech-heavy distribution 

platform. 

3. The six-year-old “insurtech” start-up began the process of going public during the 

summer of 2020, preparing for one of two scenarios: a traditional initial public offering (“IPO”) or a 

merger with an already publicly traded “blank-check” company.  While the former would require the 

filing of a detailed registration statement with the SEC replete with scores of pages of detailed 

disclosures and undergoing a probing “due diligence” investigation by investment bankers, the latter 

was relatively pain-free as Clover would simply “take over” an existing publicly traded common 

stock listing. 
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4. While by October 2020 Clover was far down the road with a traditional IPO and had 

made a number of filings with the SEC, the Company suddenly decided instead to merge with Social 

Capital Hedosophia Holdings Corp III, an already publicly listed special-purpose acquisition 

company (“SPAC”).  This entailed a $1.2 billion investment by the SPAC into Clover, including a 

$400 million public investment in private equity (“PIPE”), from investors including Fidelity 

Management & Research Co, Jennison, Sen. Investment Group LP, Casdin and Perceptive Advisors.  

In addition to the $400 million PIPE, Clover received up to $828 million of cash held in the trust 

account of Social Capital Hedosophia Holdings Corp. III.  This money, intended for investment in 

whatever company the SPAC ultimately merged with, had come from Social Capital Holding Corp. 

III’s own April 2020 IPO. 

5. SPACs typically use an S-4 registration statement when they go public, while 

traditional IPOs use an S-1 registration statement.  Regardless, the disclosure requirements are the 

same.  Both require compliance with Items 303 and 503 of Regulation S-K.  Compliance with Item 

303 requires disclosure of “any known trends or uncertainties that have had or that the registrant 

reasonably expects will have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenues or 

income from continuing operations.”  Compliance with Item 503 requires “a discussion of the 

material factors that make an investment in the registrant or offering speculative or risky.”  The 

registration statement used to complete the SPAC transaction omitted facts required to make its other 

statements not misleading and failed to comply with Items 303 and 503 of Regulation S-K.  

Specifically, it failed to disclose that Clover was subject to an ongoing investigation by the U.S. 

Department of Justice (“DOJ”), including its software “Clover Assistant” purportedly designed to 

serve “low-income and often overlooked communities,” as well as kickbacks, marketing practices, 

and undisclosed third-party deals. 
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6. Following completion of the business combination with the SPAC, Clover Securities 

began trading publicly on January 8, 2021.  As a result of defendants’ false and misleading 

statements and omissions about the Company’s management, business operations and financial 

prospects during the Class Period, the price of Clover Securities traded at artificially inflated prices, 

with the Class A common stock alone reaching a Class Period high of more than $17 per share on 

January 4, 2021.  With the price of Clover Securities trading at fraud-inflated prices based on their 

false and misleading statements, Clover’s senior officers and directors, including all but one of the 

defendants named herein, along with certain other venture capital financiers, took steps to cash-in, 

filing an additional registration statement with the SEC that would register for resale and permit 

them to sell hundreds of millions of their personally held Clover Securities at fraud-inflated prices.  

Once again, the registration statement filed with the SEC to permit the insiders and venture capital 

financiers to cash out their shares omitted facts required to make its other statements not misleading 

and failed to comply with Items 303 and 503 of Regulation S-K. 

7. On February 4, 2021, stock investment firm Hindenburg Research (“Hindenburg”) 

disclosed the existence of the ongoing DOJ investigation by publishing an investigative report 

entitled “Clover Health: How the ‘King of SPACs’ Lured Retail Investors Into a Broken Business 

Facing an Active, Undisclosed DOJ Investigation.”  According to Hindenburg, prior to the merger, 

Clover had received a civil investigative demand (“CID”) letter from the DOJ “and the 

corresponding investigation present[ed] a potential existential risk for a company that derives almost 

all of its revenue from Medicare, a government payor.”  Hindenburg went on in its report to describe 

a relationship between Clover and its subsidiary Seek Insurance as “thinly disclosed,” noting that it 

did not mention the subsidiary on its website yet told seniors that it would provide them with 

unbiased information on finding Medicare plans.  “Seek makes no mention of its relationship with 
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Clover on its website yet misleadingly advertises to seniors that it offers ‘independent’ and 

‘unbiased’ advice on selecting Medicare plans,” Hindenburg wrote.  “It claims, ‘We don’t work for 

insurance companies.  We work for you’, despite literally being owned by Clover, an insurance 

company.  Its activities are also under investigation by the DOJ.”  Hindenburg said its report was 

based on an investigation that had “spanned almost 4 months and ha[d] included more than a dozen 

interviews with former employees, competitors, and industry experts, dozens of calls to doctor’s 

offices, and a review of thousands of pages of government reports, insurance filings, regulatory 

filings, and company marketing materials.” 

8. On this news, the market price of Clover Securities declined precipitously, with the 

Class A common stock alone closing down $1.72 per share on February 3, 2021, more than 12%, on 

unusually high trading volume of more than 67.6 million shares trading, or more than 5 times the 

average daily volume over the preceding 30 trading days. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. The claims asserted herein arise under and pursuant to §§10(b) and 20(a) of the 1934 

Act, 15 U.S.C. §§78j(b) and 78t(a), and SEC Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5.  This Court has 

jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331 and §27 of the 1934 

Act. 

10. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to §27 of the 1934 Act, because Clover’s 

headquarters are located in this District and certain of the acts and practices complained of herein 

occurred in this District. 

11. In connection with the acts and conduct alleged in this complaint, defendants, directly 

or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including, but not limited 

to, the mails and interstate wire and telephone communications. 
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PARTIES 

12. Plaintiff Matthew Yaniv purchased Clover Securities, as set forth in the 

accompanying certification incorporated herein by reference, and has been damaged thereby. 

13. Defendant Clover is headquartered in Franklin, Tennessee.  Clover Securities traded 

in an efficient market throughout the Class Period, with its Class A common stock trading on the 

Nasdaq under the ticker symbol “CLOV” and its warrants to purchase Class A common stock 

trading on the Nasdaq under the ticker symbol “CLOVW,” starting January 8, 2021. 

14. Defendant Vivek Garipalli (“Garipalli”) is, and was at all relevant times, a co-

founder, the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and a member of the Board of Directors of Clover. 

15. Defendant Andrew Toy (“Toy”) is, and was at all relevant times, a co-founder, the 

President, the Chief Technology Officer (“CTO”) and a member of the Board of Directors of Clover. 

16. Defendant Joseph Wagner (“Wagner”) is, and was at all relevant times, the Chief 

Financial Officer (“CFO”) of Clover. 

17. Defendants Garipalli, Toy and Wagner are sometimes referred to herein collectively 

as the “Individual Defendants.”  Clover and the Individual Defendants are sometimes referred to 

herein collectively as “defendants.” 

18. Defendants are liable for: (i) making false statements; (ii) failing to disclose adverse 

facts known to them about Clover; and (iii) engaging in a scheme to defraud.  Defendants’ fraudulent 

scheme and course of business that operated as a fraud or deceit on purchasers of Clover Securities 

was a success, as it: (i) deceived the investing public regarding the truth about Clover’s business 

operations and financial prospects; (ii) artificially inflated the prices of Clover Securities; and 

(iii) caused plaintiff and other members of the Class to purchase Clover Securities at inflated prices. 
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BACKGROUND 

19. On April 23, 2020, the SPAC, Social Capital Hedosophia Holdings Corp. III, a newly 

incorporated blank check company, was taken public through an IPO.  It stated then that it had not 

yet selected any business combination target or initiated any substantive discussions with any 

business combination target.  In the IPO, the SPAC sold 72 million units comprised of one Class A 

ordinary share and one-third of one redeemable warrant to purchase a share of its Class A common 

stock for $10 each, raising $720 million in proceeds.  Each whole warrant entitled the holder thereof 

to purchase one Class A ordinary share at a price of  $11.50 per share, and only whole warrants were 

exercisable. 

20. The SPAC units sold in the IPO were listed on the New York Stock Exchange 

(“NYSE”) under the ticker symbol IPOC.U.  The SPAC Class A ordinary shares were listed on the 

NYSE under the ticker symbol IPOC and the SPAC warrants were listed on the NYSE under the 

ticker symbol IPOC WS.  Following the IPO, which was upsized, there were 82.8 million shares of 

the SPAC ordinary shares issued and outstanding. 

DEFENDANTS’ CLASS PERIOD MATERIALLY FALSE 
AND MISLEADING STATEMENTS 

21. The Class Period starts on October 6, 2020.  That day, Clover and the SPAC issued a 

press release announcing that “Clover Health, a Next-Generation Medicare Advantage Insurer, 

Announces Plans to Become Publicly-traded via Merger with Social Capital Hedosophia.”  The 

release went on to state in pertinent part as follows: 

 Clover is a next-generation Medicare Advantage insurance company offering 
best-in-class plans that combine wide access to healthcare and rich 
supplemental benefits with low out-of-pocket expenses 

 A unique model in health insurance, Clover partners with primary care 
physicians using its software platform, the Clover Assistant, to deliver data-
driven, personalized insights at the point of care 
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 The transaction is expected to fuel Clover’s trajectory as one of the nation’s 
fastest growing Medicare Advantage plans 

 Transaction values Clover at an enterprise value of $3.7 billion and is 
expected to provide up to $1.2 billion in cash proceeds, including a fully 
committed PIPE of $400 million and up to $828 million of cash held in the 
trust account of Social Capital Hedosophia Holdings Corp. III (“SCH”) 

 PIPE led by $100 million from Chamath Palihapitiya, Founder and CEO of 
SCH, and $50 million from Hedosophia, as well as commitments from 
Fidelity Management & Research Company, LLC., and funds affiliated with 
Jennison, Senator Investment Group LP, Casdin and Perceptive Advisors 

 Clover is expected to receive up to $728 million of transaction proceeds, and 
up to $500 million of cash proceeds is expected to be allocated to existing 
Clover shareholders 

. . . Clover Health Investments, Corp. (“Clover” or “the Company”), which 
operates next-generation Medicare Advantage plans, has entered into a definitive 
agreement to become publicly traded via a merger with Social Capital Hedosophia 
Holdings Corp. III (“SCH”)(NYSE: IPOC), a special purpose acquisition company.  
Upon closing, the transaction will support Clover’s mission to improve every life, 
providing significant capital for the Company to scale and improve health outcomes 
for seniors across the United States. 

Company Overview 

Founded in 2013, Clover has pioneered a fundamentally different approach to 
Medicare Advantage that focuses on driving affordability and partnering closely 
with physicians to deliver the best possible health outcomes for members.  The 
Company offers affordable Medicare Advantage plans to eligible individuals, giving 
consumers access to broad and open healthcare networks, rich supplemental benefits 
and low out-of-pocket expenses. 

Technology is at the core of Clover’s business – the Company is a true 
innovator in the Medicare Advantage space, deploying its own internally-developed 
software to assist physicians with clinical decision-making at the point of care. 

Clover’s flagship platform, the Clover Assistant, aggregates millions of 
relevant health data points – including claims, medical charts and diagnostics, among 
others – and uses machine learning to synthesize that data with member-specific 
information.  This provides physicians with actionable and personalized insights at 
the point of care, offering suggestions for medications and dosages as well as the 
need for tests or referrals, among others, to ultimately improve health outcomes. 

The Clover Assistant enables a virtuous growth cycle, whereby improved 
health outcomes lead to superior economics that the Company shares with members 
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through lower costs and rich benefits.  In turn, the Company believes its best-in-class 
plans will continue to deliver market-leading growth, allowing the Clover Assistant 
to capture and synthesize more data and ultimately drive better care. 

Medicare Advantage is one of the largest and fastest growing markets in the 
U.S. healthcare system – but it is one that has seen little innovation and remains ripe 
for disruption.  Worth $270 billion today and with an estimated value of $590 billion 
by 2025, the Medicare Advantage market provides a tremendous opportunity for 
growth. 

Today, Clover is the fastest growing Medicare Advantage insurer in the 
United States – among insurers with more than 50,000 members – and serves more 
than 57,000 members in 34 counties across 7 states.  Spurred by favorable 
demographic tailwinds and its differentiated, technology-driven approach, Clover 
has captured an average of 50 percent of the net increase in membership across its 
established markets over the last three years.  Further, the Company’s software-
centric approach enables efficient expansion into new markets, including to 
historically underserved and rural communities.  The Company plans to expand into 
an additional 74 counties and eighth state next year and recently announced a new 
partnership with Walmart to make joint Clover-Walmart plans available to half a 
million Medicare-eligibles in eight Georgia counties. 

Clover’s management team, led by CEO and Co-Founder Vivek Garipalli and 
President and Co-Founder Andrew Toy, will continue to lead Clover following the 
transaction.  Chamath Palihapitiya, Founder and CEO of SCH, will act as a senior 
advisor to the Company’s management. 

Management Comments 

“I launched Clover eight years ago to fix fundamental flaws in our 
healthcare system, including unequal access, abysmal customer service and wasteful 
spending.  Chamath and the SCH team are fervent believers and true champions of 
Clover’s mission to improve every life,” said Garipalli.  “Our philosophy is that 
everyone should be able to afford great healthcare.  The Clover team empowers 
physicians to deliver the best possible outcomes for our members, and the Clover 
Assistant does just that by delivering vital clinical insights to physicians at the point 
of care.” 

“We have made it our business to make healthcare affordable.  Our 
technology helps doctors, leading to better outcomes and lower out-of-pocket 
expenses for members,” said Toy.  “I believe that more and more doctors are 
embracing the Clover Assistant because it allows them to focus on what they want 
to do, which is to look after patients.  Importantly, the platform is powered by a 
closed feedback loop, linking clinical data and physician action, which improves 
continuously as membership grows, allowing us to constantly evolve new ways of 
helping physicians and their patients.” 
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Palihapitiya said, “We need companies like Clover to help fix our broken 
healthcare system.  The Company’s rapid growth is a testament to the effectiveness 
of its tech-enabled approach, which resonates powerfully with consumers and 
physicians alike.  I believe Clover is uniquely positioned to disrupt the entire 
Medicare Advantage market as well as expand into new and exciting opportunities in 
Original Medicare.  I am proud to partner with Vivek, Andrew and the entire Clover 
team on the next phase of their mission to improve lives across the country.” 

22. On October 20, 2020, Clover and the SPAC filed their initial registration statement 

for the Merger with the SEC on Form S-3 (the “Merger Registration Statement”), which was 

amended several times in connection with comments from the SEC and was declared effective by the 

SEC on December 11, 2020.  For the reasons identified below in ¶¶24-31, the Merger Registration 

Statement contained untrue statements of material facts or omitted to state other facts necessary to 

make the statements made not misleading and was not prepared in accordance with the rules and 

regulations governing its preparation. 

23. On December 14, 2020, defendants filed with the SEC the final Prospectus, which 

forms part of the Merger Registration Statement (collectively, the “Merger Registration Statement”), 

and completed the merger, causing Clover to become a publicly listed company.  Upon completion 

of the business combination, the SPAC’s Class A ordinary shares and warrants then listed on the 

NYSE were relisted as Clover Class A common stock and Clover warrants on The Nasdaq Global 

Select Market (“Nasdaq”) under the ticker symbols CLOV and CLOVW, respectively. 

24. The Merger Registration Statement contained untrue statements of material facts or 

omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading and was not 

prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations governing its preparation. 

25. Concerning the Company’s business model, the Merger Registration Statement 

highlighted the Company’s purportedly strong business operations and financial prospects, stating in 

pertinent part as follows: 
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At Clover Health, we are singularly focused on creating great, sustainable 
healthcare to improve every life.  We have centered our strategy on building and 
deploying technology that we believe will enable us to solve a significant data 
problem while avoiding the limitations of legacy approaches.  Currently, as a next-
generation Medicare Advantage insurer, we leverage our flagship software platform, 
the Clover Assistant, to provide America’s seniors with PPO and HMO plans that 
are the obvious choice for Medicare-eligible consumers.  We call our plans 
“Obvious” because we believe they are highly affordable – offering most of our 
members the lowest average out-of-pocket costs for PCP co-pays, specialist co-pays, 
drug deductibles and drug costs in their markets – and provide peace of mind with 
wide network access and the same cost-sharing (co-pays and deductibles) for 
physicians who are in- and out-of-network.  By empowering physicians with data-
driven, personalized insights at the point of care through our software platform, we 
believe we can improve clinical decision-making and viably offer these “Obvious” 
plans at scale, through an asset-light approach.  Today, we have the highest 
membership growth rate among Medicare Advantage plans in the United States with 
over 50,000 members, based on CMS enrollment data, and reach a broad array of 
consumers, including traditionally underserved populations.  We believe our growth 
potential in existing and future markets is high. 

* * * 

We drive adoption and use of the Clover Assistant across our PCP network 
by focusing on continuously improving its user-centric design, highly actionable 
and real-time clinical content, enhanced and rapid payment for Clover Assistant 
visits and simple onboarding.  As of September 30, 2020, over 2,300 PCPs, who 
already treat our members and are responsible for caring for 65% of our total 
membership, had contracted to use the Clover Assistant to manage our members’ 
care.  In addition, the Clover Assistant delights physicians, as evidenced by our 
positive NPS of 59 for the six months ended September 30, 2020.  The Clover 
Assistant’s NPS is comparable to those of leading consumer technology platforms, 
such as Netflix and Amazon, and stands in stark contrast to the average negative NPS 
of -44 of legacy medical record software products, including EHRs such as 
athenahealth, Epic or NextGen, in 2016.  Additionally, onboarded physicians are 
highly engaged, using the Clover Assistant for 92% of their member visits in 2019. 

* * * 

As the improved care made possible by the Clover Assistant results in 
improved plan economics, we are able to return a material portion of our savings 
to members through our “Obvious” plans.  We strive to continuously lower our 
members’ out-of-pocket costs and provide them with market-leading benefits.  Most 
of our members are enrolled in plans that offer the lowest average out-of-pocket 
costs for PCP co-pays, specialist co-pays, drug deductibles and drug costs in their 
markets while also providing peace of mind with broad network access and with the 
same in- and out-of-network costs for physician visits. . . . 
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As a result of our “Obvious” plans, we have achieved significant organic 
membership growth.  Our membership has expanded from 30,677 as of January 1, 
2018, to 57,503 as of September 30, 2020, representing 25% share of the individual, 
non-SNP MA market in our established markets, which we define as markets where 
an insurer has over 500 members as of the end of the prior year.  This expansion has 
largely been driven by our nation-leading established market take rate, which has 
averaged more than 50% over the past three years across a group of counties in New 
Jersey that grew from eight to 13 over the period.  Established market take rate is 
derived from publicly available CMS data and represents the number of members 
gained by an insurer as a percentage of the total number of incremental MA members 
added to comparable plans in established markets.  This rapid growth generated a 
59.1% increase in our total revenues from $290.6 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2018, to $462.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, and 
our gross premiums earned, before the impact of premiums ceded to third party 
reinsurers under reinsurance agreements, grew 29.4%, from $353.9 million to $457.8 
million over the same period.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, our 
total revenues were $506.7 million and gross premiums earned were $501.5 million 
as compared to $347.0 million in total revenues and $344.3 million in gross 
premiums earned for the nine months ended September 30, 2019, in each case, 
representing a 46% increase.  During 2018 and 2019, we also built the 
infrastructure to deliver on a more efficient healthcare experience for our 
members, resulting in net losses of $(201.9) million and $(363.7) million for the 
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019.  For the years ended December 31, 2018 
and 2019, our adjusted EBITDA was $(177.1) million and $(175.5) million, 
respectively, and our Adjusted EBITDA Margin was (50.1)% and (38.3)%, 
respectively.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, our net loss was 
$(10.0) million, our adjusted EBITDA was $(11.0) million and our Adjusted 
EBITDA Margin was (2.2)%.  Our improved results in the current year were the 
result of operational execution as well as reduced utilization of healthcare services 
as a result of COVID-19. 

26. Concerning then-pending “Legal Proceedings,” the Merger Registration Statement 

stated in pertinent part that Clover was “not presently involved in any legal proceeding the outcome 

of which, we believe, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken together have a 

material adverse effect on our business, operating results, cash flows or financial condition.” 

27. Concerning “Government Regulation,” the Merger Registration Statement stated in 

pertinent part that Clover “work[ed] diligently to ensure compliance with all applicable laws and 

regulations.” 
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28. The Agreement and Plan of Merger between the SPAC and Clover and signed by 

defendant Garipalli was attached to the Prospectus and in addressing then-pending “Litigation and 

Proceedings,” stated in pertinent part as follows: 

Section 4.10. Litigation and Proceedings.  Except as set forth on Section 4.10 
of the Company Disclosure Letter, as of the date hereof, (a) there are no pending 
or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, lawsuits, actions, suits, 
judgments, claims, proceedings or any other Actions (including any investigations 
or inquiries initiated, pending or threatened) by any Governmental Authority, or 
other proceedings at law or in equity (collectively, “Legal Proceedings”), against the 
Company or any of the Company’s Subsidiaries or their respective properties or 
assets; and (b) there is no outstanding Governmental Order imposed upon the 
Company or any of the Company’s Subsidiaries; nor are any properties or assets of 
the Company or any of the Company’s Subsidiaries’ respective businesses bound or 
subject to any Governmental Order, except in the case of each of clauses (a) and (b), 
as would not be, or would not reasonably be expected to be, material to the business 
of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. 

29. Elsewhere, addressing the “disclosure letters” referenced in Section 4.10 of the 

Agreement and Plan of Merger, the Merger Registration Statement stated in pertinent part that “the 

underlying disclosure letters . . . are not filed publicly,” and that defendants did not “believe that the 

disclosure letters contain information that is material to an investment decision.” 

30. Concerning “Legal Compliance,” the Agreement and Plan of Merger between the 

SPAC and Clover attached to the Prospectus stated in pertinent part as follows: 

Section 4.11. Legal Compliance. 

(a)  Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is, and for the prior five (5) 
years has been, in compliance in all material respects with applicable Law. 

(b)  The Company and its Subsidiaries maintain a program of policies, 
procedures, and internal controls reasonably designed and implemented to (i) 
prevent the use of the products and services of the Company and its Subsidiaries in 
a manner that violates applicable Law (including money laundering or fraud), and 
(ii) otherwise provide reasonable assurance that violations of applicable Law by 
any of the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ directors, officers, employees or its or 
their respective agents, representatives or other Persons, acting on behalf of the 
Company or any of the Company’s Subsidiaries, will be prevented, detected and 
deterred. 
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(c)  Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries or any of the officers, 
directors or employees thereof acting in such capacity has received any written 
notice of, or been charged with, the violation of any Laws, except where such 
violation has not been, individually or in the aggregate, material to the Company and 
its Subsidiaries. 

31. The Merger Registration Statement did state that Clover’s 

operations, current and past business practices, contracts and accounts and other 
books and records are subject to routine, regular and special investigations, audits, 
examinations and review by, and from time to time we receive subpoenas and other 
requests for information from, federal and state supervisory and enforcement 
agencies, attorneys general and other state, federal and international governmental 
authorities and legislators. 

However, the purported disclosure was itself materially false and misleading because it failed to 

disclose that Clover had just received subpoenas from the DOJ that put the lion’s share of its 

revenues in jeopardy if misconduct was revealed in the investigation. 

32. On January 7, 2021, Clover issued a press release announcing that the SPAC’s 

shareholders had approved the merger on January 6, 2021, that the business combination had been 

completed on January 7, 2021, and that the new Clover Securities would begin trading on the 

Nasdaq on January 8, 2021.  Lauding the Company’s business metrics and financial prospects, the 

release quoted defendant Garipalli as stating in pertinent part as follows: 

Today marks an important milestone in Clover Health’s mission to improve 
every life by enabling improved clinical decision making and achieving affordability 
in healthcare in the U.S.  As a public company, we will continue to pioneer a 
fundamentally different approach in the Medicare Advantage and Medicare space – 
investing in technology and partnering closely with physicians to help them make 
critical decisions for their patients at the point of care – with an overarching 
commitment to creating value for all stakeholders. 

33. On January 13, 2021, Clover filed with the SEC a second registration statement on 

Form S-1 registering for resale 303,904,202 shares of Class A Clover common stock, 10,933,333 

warrants to purchase shares of Class A Clover common stock and 38,533,271 shares of Class A 

Clover common stock underlying warrants by certain “Selling Securityholders,” which included, but 
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was not limited to, defendants Garipalli, Toy and Wagner (the “SPO Registration Statement”).  The 

SPO Registration Statement was signed by each of the Individual Defendants. 

34. On January 27, 2020, Clover filed with the SEC certain “slides for use in connection 

with its presentation at an industry conference on January 27, 2021.”  The slides and comments 

made at the conference provided additional positive commentary about the Company’s business 

operations and financial prospects. 

35. On January 27, 2021, the SEC declared the SPO Registration Statement effective and 

on January 29, 2021, Clover filed with the SEC the final Prospectus for the SPO, which forms part 

of the SPO Registration Statement (collectively, the “SPO Registration Statement”). 

36. The SPO Registration Statement contained untrue statements of material facts or 

omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading and was not 

prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations governing its preparation. 

37. Concerning the Company’s business model, the SPO Registration Statement 

highlighted the Company’s purportedly strong business operations and financial prospects, stating in 

pertinent part as follows: 

At Clover Health, we are singularly focused on creating great, sustainable 
healthcare to improve every life.  We have centered our strategy on building and 
deploying technology that we believe will enable us to solve a significant data 
problem while avoiding the limitations of legacy approaches.  Currently, as a next-
generation Medicare Advantage insurer, we leverage our flagship software platform, 
the Clover Assistant, to provide America’s seniors with PPO and HMO plans that 
are the obvious choice for Medicare-eligible consumers.  We call our plans 
“Obvious” because we believe they are highly affordable – offering most of our 
members the lowest average out-of-pocket costs for PCP co-pays, specialist co-pays, 
drug deductibles and drug costs in their markets – and provide peace of mind with 
wide network access and the same cost-sharing (co-pays and deductibles) for 
physicians who are in- and out-of-network.  By empowering physicians with data-
driven, personalized insights at the point of care through our software platform, we 
believe we can improve clinical decision-making and viably offer these “Obvious” 
plans at scale, through an asset-light approach.  Today, we have the highest 
membership growth rate among Medicare Advantage plans in the United States with 
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over 50,000 members, based on CMS enrollment data, and reach a broad array of 
consumers, including traditionally underserved populations.  We believe our growth 
potential in existing and future markets is high. 

* * * 

We drive adoption and use of the Clover Assistant across our PCP network by 
focusing on continuously improving its user-centric design, highly actionable and 
real-time clinical content, enhanced and rapid payment for Clover Assistant visits 
and simple onboarding.  As of September 30, 2020, over 2,300 PCPs, who already 
treat our members and are responsible for caring for 65% of our total membership, 
had contracted to use the Clover Assistant to manage our members’ care.  In 
addition, the Clover Assistant delights physicians, as evidenced by our positive NPS 
of 59 for the six months ended September 30, 2020.  The Clover Assistant’s NPS is 
comparable to those of leading consumer technology platforms, such as Netflix and 
Amazon, and stands in stark contrast to the average negative NPS of -44 of legacy 
medical record software products, including EHRs such as athenahealth, Epic or 
NextGen, in 2016.  Additionally, onboarded physicians are highly engaged, using the 
Clover Assistant for 92% of their member visits in 2019. 

* * * 

As the improved care made possible by the Clover Assistant results in 
improved plan economics, we are able to return a material portion of our savings 
to members through our “Obvious” plans.  We strive to continuously lower our 
members’ out-of-pocket costs and provide them with market-leading benefits.  Most 
of our members are enrolled in plans that offer the lowest average out-of-pocket 
costs for PCP co-pays, specialist co-pays, drug deductibles and drug costs in their 
markets while also providing peace of mind with broad network access and with the 
same in- and out-of-network costs for physician visits. . . . 

As a result of our “Obvious” plans, we have achieved significant organic 
membership growth.  Our membership has expanded from 30,677 as of January 1, 
2018, to 57,503 as of September 30, 2020, representing 25% share of the individual, 
non-SNP MA market in our established markets, which we define as markets where 
an insurer has over 500 members as of the end of the prior year.  This expansion has 
largely been driven by our nation-leading established market take rate, which has 
averaged more than 50% over the past three years across a group of counties in New 
Jersey that grew from eight to 13 over the period.  Established market take rate is 
derived from publicly available CMS data and represents the number of members 
gained by an insurer as a percentage of the total number of incremental MA members 
added to comparable plans in established markets.  This rapid growth generated a 
59.1% increase in our total revenues from $290.6 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2018, to $462.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, and 
our gross premiums earned, before the impact of premiums ceded to third party 
reinsurers under reinsurance agreements, grew 29.4%, from $353.9 million to $457.8 
million over the same period.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, our 
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total revenues were $506.7 million and gross premiums earned were $501.5 million 
as compared to $347.0 million in total revenues and $344.3 million in gross 
premiums earned for the nine months ended September 30, 2019, in each case, 
representing a 46% increase.  During 2018 and 2019, we also built the 
infrastructure to deliver on a more efficient healthcare experience for our 
members, resulting in net losses of $(201.9) million and $(363.7) million for the 
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019.  For the years ended December 31, 2018 
and 2019, our adjusted EBITDA was $(177.1) million and $(175.5) million, 
respectively, and our Adjusted EBITDA Margin was (50.1)% and (38.3)%, 
respectively.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, our net loss was 
$(10.0) million, our adjusted EBITDA was $(11.0) million and our Adjusted 
EBITDA Margin was (2.2)%.  Our improved results in the current year were the 
result of operational execution as well as reduced utilization of healthcare services 
as a result of COVID-19. 

38. Concerning then-pending “Legal Proceedings,” the SPO Registration Statement stated 

in pertinent part that Clover was “not presently involved in any legal proceeding the outcome of 

which, we believe, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken together have a 

material adverse effect on our business, operating results, cash flows or financial condition.” 

39. Concerning “Government Regulation,” the SPO Registration Statement stated in 

pertinent part that Clover “work[ed] diligently to ensure compliance with all applicable laws and 

regulations.” 

40. The SPO Registration Statement did state that Clover’s 

operations, current and past business practices, contracts and accounts and other 
books and records are subject to routine, regular and special investigations, audits, 
examinations and review by, and from time to time we receive subpoenas and other 
requests for information from, federal and state supervisory and enforcement 
agencies, attorneys general and other state, federal and international governmental 
authorities and legislators. 

However, the purported disclosure was itself materially false and misleading because it failed to 

disclose that Clover had just received subpoenas from the DOJ that put the lion’s share of its 

revenues in jeopardy if misconduct was revealed in the investigation. 

41. The statements above in ¶¶21-22, 24-32, 34 and 36-40 were materially false and 

misleading at the time they were made, and omitted material information required to be disclosed, 
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because they failed to disclose the following adverse information that was then known to defendants 

or recklessly disregarded by them: 

(a) that the lion’s share of Clover’s sales are driven by major undisclosed related-

party deals and misleading marketing practices targeting the elderly; 

(b) that Clover had already been fined in 2016 for misleading marketing practices; 

(c) that Clover was subject to an ongoing DOJ investigation into at least 12 

issues, including kickbacks, improper marketing practices, overbilling Medicare through “upbilling,” 

and undisclosed third-party deals; 

(d) that the DOJ investigation had put Clover’s nearly sole source of revenues 

from Medicare, a government payor, at risk; 

(e) that another company defendant Garipalli previously operated, CarePoint 

Health, had been accused of rampant price gouging and run into the ground; and 

(f) that as a result, defendants’ statements about Clover’s management, business, 

operations, and financial prospects were materially false and misleading and/or lacked a reasonable 

basis at all relevant times. 

42. In addition to the material misstatements and omissions described above, the Merger 

and SPO Registration Statements were also materially misleading because they omitted to disclose 

material information that was required to be disclosed pursuant to the SEC regulations governing 

their preparation.  Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. §229, sets forth specific requirements for the contents 

of registration statements.  These regulations include Item 303, 17 C.F.R. §229.303, which sets forth 

the requirements for the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 

of Operations (“MD&A”) section of registration statements.  These regulations also include Item 

503, 17 C.F.R. §229.503, which sets forth the requirements for the Risk Factors section of 
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registration statements.  The Merger and SPO Registration Statements were materially false and 

misleading because they did not comply with the affirmative disclosure obligations set forth in Items 

303 and 503 of Regulation S-K. 

43. On February 4, 2021, Hindenburg published its investigative report which disclosed, 

among other things, as follows: 

 Today, we reveal how Clover Health and its Wall Street celebrity promoter, 
Chamath Palihapitiya, misled investors about critical aspects of Clover’s 
business in the run-up to the company’s SPAC go-public transaction last 
month. 

 Our investigation into Clover Health has spanned almost 4 months and has 
included more than a dozen interviews with former employees, competitors, 
and industry experts, dozens of calls to doctor’s offices, and a review of 
thousands of pages of government reports, insurance filings, regulatory 
filings, and company marketing materials. 

 Critically, Clover has not disclosed that its business model and its software 
offering, called the Clover Assistant, are under active investigation by the 
Department of Justice (DOJ), which is investigating at least 12 issues ranging 
from kickbacks to marketing practices to undisclosed third-party deals, 
according to a Civil Investigative Demand (similar to a subpoena) we 
obtained. 

 This Civil Investigative Demand and the corresponding investigation present 
a potential existential risk for a company that derives almost all of its revenue 
from Medicare, a government payor.  Our research indicates that the 
investigation has merit. 

 Clover claims that its best-in-class technology fuels its sales growth.  We 
found that much of Clover’s sales are driven by a major undisclosed related 
party deal and misleading marketing targeting the elderly. 

 These practices should not come as a surprise, given that in 2016, Clover was 
fined for misleading marketing practices by the Centers for Medicare & 
Medicaid Services (CMS).  The fine was issued after Clover’s repeated 
failure to amend misleading statements about its plan offerings.  A former 
employee told us the fine was so small it just emboldened Clover to push the 
envelope further. 

 Clover has a thinly-disclosed subsidiary called “Seek Insurance.”  Seek 
makes no mention of its relationship with Clover on its website yet 
misleadingly advertises to seniors that it offers “independent” and “unbiased” 
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advice on selecting Medicare plans.  It claims, “We don’t work for insurance 
companies.  We work for you”, despite literally being owned by Clover, an 
insurance company.  Its activities are also under investigation by the DOJ. 

 Multiple former employees explained that much of Clover’s sales are fueled 
by a major undisclosed relationship between Clover and an outside brokerage 
firm controlled by Clover’s Head of Sales, Hiram Bermudez.  One former 
employee estimated Bermudez drove ~68% of Clover’s total sales, though 
was unclear on the amount coming from the undisclosed relationship. 

 One of the former employees explained that Clover’s Head of Sales took 
efforts to conceal the relationship by putting it in his wife’s name “for 
compliance purposes.”  Insurance filings confirm this.  The Clover contract 
was quietly put into his wife’s name in the weeks after Clover’s go-public 
announcement. 

 In a CNBC interview announcing the Clover transaction, Chamath 
proclaimed, unprompted, “they create transparency . . . they don’t motivate 
doctors to upcode or do all kinds of things to get paid.”  A former employee 
explained to us that the DOJ is specifically asking about upcoding, or the 
practice of overbilling Medicare. 

 Multiple former employees explained that Clover’s software is primarily a 
tool to help the company increase coding reimbursement.  We provide detail 
on how the software captures and retains irrelevant diagnoses, which we 
believe deceives the healthcare system, and poses a significant regulatory 
risk. 

 Clover claims its software “delights” physicians, but according to doctors and 
former employees we interviewed, they use it because Clover pays them 
extra to use it.  Physicians are paid $200 per visit to use the software, twice 
the normal reimbursement rate for a Medicare visit. 

 Doctors at key Clover providers described the software as “embarrassingly 
rudimentary”, “a waste of my time” and as just another administrative hassle 
to deal with. 

 Clover’s CTO left 6 months before the first release of the supposed 
“disruptive” Clover Assistant software in July 2018 (likely a sign that 
development wasn’t going great.)  Clover’s executive team has been in 
turmoil, with 3 CFOs, 3 COOs, and 2 General Counsels in the last 4 years. 

 Prior to founding Clover, CEO Vivek Garipalli owned 3 New Jersey 
hospitals through a company called CarePoint Health.  CarePoint was 
publicly lambasted for price-gouging; its hospital charged the highest prices 
for emergency room treatment in the entire country. 
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 For example, local media reported that Garipalli’s hospitals charged a teacher 
$9,000 for a bandaged finger and a tetanus shot, and another patient $17,000 
for 5-6 stiches on a cut hand. 

 In 2015, as it came under increasing regulatory scrutiny, Garipalli made a 
secret $1 million donation to the Jersey City Mayor through a shell entity.  
Garipalli was only revealed as the donor after a non-profit sued to expose the 
mystery backer. 

 CarePoint’s predatory price-gouging was lucrative.  But in 2020, New Jersey 
legislators accused Garipalli – now a public company CEO – of siphoning 
over $157 million from his hospital network through a byzantine web of LLC 
shell entities.  The transactions left the hospitals financially crippled, leading 
to layoffs and a liquidating sale process to new owners. 

 Meanwhile, Chamath has described Garipalli as “an absolute proven 
moneymaker”. 

 That could be because Chamath’s firm received over 20 million “founders 
shares” (worth ~$290 million at current prices) in exchange for $25,000 and 
for promoting the Clover Health SPAC. 

 Given that investors are paying over a quarter billion dollars for Chamath’s 
due diligence, we think they deserve to know whether Chamath knew of 
these issues and concealed them, or whether he simply failed to notice them 
at all. 

44. Specifically as to the 2016 fine for misleading marketing practices, the Hindenburg 

report stated in pertinent part as follows: 

The DOJ investigation is not the first-time the government has investigated 
Clover.  Several years after its 2013 launch, Clover was fined $106,095 by CMS for 
misleading marketing practices. 

Specifically, Clover was alleged to have falsely led seniors to believe that 
Clover covered certain services that it didn’t.  This would result in denial of service 
or out-of-pocket expenses for services the seniors thought were included. 

CMS issued the fine after repeatedly warning Clover and after Clover’s 
failure to amend its misleading statements, according to the CMS release: 
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45. On this news, the market price of Clover Securities declined precipitously, with the 

Class A common stock alone closing down $1.72 per share on February 3, 2021, more than 12%, on 

unusually high trading volume of more than 67.6 million shares trading, or more than 5 times the 

average daily volume over the preceding 30 trading days. 

ADDITIONAL SCIENTER ALLEGATIONS 

46. As alleged herein, Clover and the Individual Defendants acted with scienter in that 

they knew that the public documents and statements issued or disseminated in the name of the 

Company were materially false and misleading; knew that such statements or documents would be 

issued or disseminated to the investing public; and knowingly and substantially participated or 

acquiesced in the issuance or dissemination of such statements or documents as primary violations of 

the federal securities laws.  As set forth elsewhere herein in detail, these defendants, by virtue of 

their receipt of information reflecting the true facts regarding Clover, their control over, and/or 
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receipt and/or modification of Clover’s allegedly materially misleading statements and/or their 

associations with the Company which made them privy to confidential proprietary information 

concerning Clover, participated in the fraudulent scheme alleged herein. 

LOSS CAUSATION/ECONOMIC LOSS 

47. During the Class Period, as detailed herein, defendants made false and misleading 

statements and engaged in a scheme to deceive the market and a course of conduct that artificially 

inflated the price of Clover securities and operated as a fraud or deceit on Class Period purchasers of 

Clover Securities by misrepresenting the Company’s business and prospects.  Later, when 

defendants’ prior misrepresentations and fraudulent conduct became apparent to the market, the 

price of Clover Securities fell precipitously, as the prior artificial inflation came out of the price over 

time.  As a result of their purchases of Clover Securities during the Class Period, plaintiff and other 

members of the Class suffered economic loss, i.e., damages, under the federal securities laws. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

48. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a class consisting of purchasers of Clover Securities during 

the Class Period, and who were damaged thereby (the “Class”).  Excluded from the Class are 

defendants and their families, the officers and directors of the Company, at all relevant times, 

members of their immediate families and their legal representatives, heirs, successors or assigns, and 

any entity in which defendants have or had a controlling interest. 

49. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  Clover Securities were actively traded on the Nasdaq.  While the exact number of 

Class members is unknown to plaintiff at this time and can only be ascertained through appropriate 

discovery, plaintiff believes that there are hundreds of members in the proposed Class.  Record 
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owners and other members of the Class may be identified from records maintained by Clover or its 

transfer agents and may be notified of the pendency of this action by mail, using the form of notice 

similar to that customarily used in securities class actions. 

50. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all members 

of the Class are similarly affected by defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of federal law that is 

complained of herein. 

51. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class 

and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation. 

52. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and 

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class.  Among the 

questions of law and fact common to the Class are: 

(a) whether the 1934 Act was violated by defendants’ acts as alleged herein; 

(b) whether statements made by defendants to the investing public during the 

Class Period misrepresented material facts about the business, operations and management of 

Clover;  

(c) whether defendants engaged in a scheme to defraud; and 

(d) to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the 

proper measure of damages. 

53. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable.  Furthermore, as the 

damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and burden of 

individual litigation make it impossible for members of the Class to individually redress the wrongs 

done to them.  There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as a class action. 
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COUNT I 

For Violation of §10(b) of the 1934 Act and Rule 10b-5 
Against All Defendants  

54. Plaintiff incorporates ¶¶1-53 by reference. 

55. During the Class Period, defendants disseminated or approved the false statements 

specified above, which they knew or deliberately disregarded were misleading in that they contained 

misrepresentations and failed to disclose material facts necessary in order to make the statements 

made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

56. The defendants named in this Count violated §10(b) of the 1934 Act and Rule 10b-5 

in that they: 

(a) employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; 

(b) made untrue statements of material facts or omitted to state material facts 

necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were 

made, not misleading; or 

(c) engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business that operated as a fraud or 

deceit upon plaintiff and others similarly situated in connection with their purchases of Clover 

Securities during the Class Period. 

57. Plaintiff and the Class have suffered damages in that, in reliance on the integrity of 

the market, they paid artificially inflated prices for Clover Securities.  Plaintiff and the Class would 

not have purchased Clover Securities at the prices they paid, or at all, if they had been aware that the 

market prices had been artificially and falsely inflated by these defendants’ misleading statements. 

COUNT II 

For Violation of §20(a) of the 1934 Act 
Against the Individual Defendants 

58. Plaintiff incorporates ¶¶1-57 by reference. 
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59. The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of Clover within the meaning 

of §20(a) of the 1934 Act.  By reason of their positions with the Company, and their ownership of 

Clover securities, the Individual Defendants had the power and authority to cause Clover to engage 

in the wrongful conduct complained of herein.  The Individual Defendants controlled Clover and all 

of its employees.  By reason of such conduct, all defendants are liable pursuant to §20(a) of the 1934 

Act. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays for relief and judgment, as follows: 

A. Determining that this action is a proper class action, designating plaintiff as Lead 

Plaintiff and certifying plaintiff as Class representative under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure and plaintiff’s counsel as Lead Counsel; 

B. Awarding compensatory damages in favor of plaintiff and the other Class members 

against all defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained as a result of defendants’ 

wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon; 

C. Awarding plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in this 

action, including counsel fees and expert fees; and 

D. Such equitable/injunctive or other relief as may be deemed appropriate by the Court. 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury. 

DATED:  February 10, 2021 ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN 
 & DOWD LLP 
CHRISTOPHER M. WOOD, #032977 

 

s/ Christopher M. Wood 
 CHRISTOPHER M. WOOD 
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414 Union Street, Suite 900 
Nashville, TN  37219 
Telephone:  615/244-2203 
615/252-3798 (fax) 
cwood@rgrdlaw.com 

 
ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN 
 & DOWD LLP 
SAMUEL H. RUDMAN 
MARK S. REICH 
MARY K. BLASY 
58 South Service Road, Suite 200 
Melville, NY  11747 
Telephone:  631/367-7100 
631/367-1173 (fax) 
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Telephone:  615/244-2202 
615/252-3798 (fax) 
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